THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity Judge

Case No.: 2010-CP-CP-23-1321
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002381

RECEIVED

JUL 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for
First Franklin Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-FFI Pass-
Through Certificates, Series 2006-FFI,

Respondent,

v.

Dora S. Morrow, Ray Martin, and Lease and Rental
Management Corp. d/b/a Auto Use and Auto Loan, a
Massachusetts Corporation, Southern New Hampshire
Bank and Trust Company, a New Hampshire Bank,
and Edman Hackworth,

Defendants.

Edman Hackworth,

3rd Party Plaintiff,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by granting Hackworth's motion to enforce settlement where there was no written agreement signed by all parties and by counsel as required by Rule 43(k), *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure*?
2. Did the trial court err by enforcing the settlement agreement where Dora Morrow revoked her assent prior to entering into a written agreement signed by all parties and counsel as required by Rule 43(k), *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure*?
3. Did the trial court err by granting Hackworth's motion to enforce settlement where the settlement agreement expired per its own terms?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant Dora Morrow owned real property located at 6 Ladbrooke Court, Greenville, SC (the “Property”). Said Property was encumbered by a mortgage recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Greenville County on October 26, 2005, in Mortgage Book 4457 at Page 1030 (*See R. p. 44, ¶ 8*). Through a series of assignments, said mortgage came to be owned by Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for First Franklin Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-FF1 Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006 FF1 (“Deutsche Bank”) (*See R. p. 44, ¶ 10*). On or about April 1, 2009, Dora Morrow defaulted on the mortgage loan secured by the Property (*See R. p. 45, ¶14*). On February 18, 2010, Deutsche Bank filed an action to foreclose its mortgage on the Property. At this time, counsel for Deutsche Bank was identified as Joseph T. Merli of the Finkel Law Firm, LLC. (*See R. pp. 41-46*).

On or about August 10, 2009, prior to the initiation of the foreclosure action, Respondent Edman Hackworth (“Hackworth”) entered into a contract with Appellants Dora Morrow and her husband John Morrow (*See R. pp. 74-77*). The contract provided for a four (4) year lease period wherein Hackworth would make rental payments totaling \$937.24 per month, with an option to purchase the property for \$110,000.00. On the face of the agreement, it appeared that the parties lined-through provisions that all payments would offset the purchase price (*See R. pp. 74-76, sections III, IV, and XII(A)*).

Subsequent to the filing of the foreclosure action, a dispute arose between Hackworth and the Morrows about whether rental payments made under the contract would offset the purchase price. Hackworth was made a party to the foreclosure action, and he filed cross-claims and third party claims against Dora Morrow and John Morrow

relating to payments made and costs incurred by Hackworth according to and in reliance on the terms of the contract to purchase the Property subject to foreclosure. Hackworth alleged that, after discussions with John Morrow, the parties agreed the lined-through provisions would be effective (*See R. p. 52, ¶13*). These claims were filed on June 12, 2012, by counsel for Hackworth, Thomas E. Dudley, III, of Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC (*See R. pp. 48-62*).

In response, Dora Morrow and John Morrow filed their Answer to Crossclaim and Third Party Complaint and Counterclaim on July 3, 2012 (*See R. pp. 82-90*). The Morrows denied any agreement that payments would offset the purchase price, and argued that the intentions of the parties were apparent on the face of the contract (*See R. pp. 86-87, ¶¶8, 18*). At that time, Appellants were represented by attorney David B. Greene of Greene Law Firm, P.A. However, Mr. Greene was later relieved of his representation of Appellants on December 20, 2012 (*See R. pp. 1-2*).

The matter was referred to the Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., as Master-in-Equity for Greenville County, by Order of Reference filed March 4, 2010 (*See R. p. 6*). On or about August 12, 2013, Judge Simmons heard the trial of the claims against Hackworth and Morrows. Hackworth was represented at trial by his attorney Thomas Dudley, and Deutsche Bank was represented by Sam Phillips of the Finkel Law Firm. John Morrow appeared *pro se*, and Dora Morrow did not appear (*See R. p. 11*). After the trial, the trial court issued its order filed September 12, 2013, finding in favor of Hackworth and granting judgment in favor of Edman Hackworth against Dora Morrow and John Morrow, jointly and severally, for the total amount of \$88,301.75 (*See R. p. 17, ¶4*).

During the pendency of the claims between Hackworth and Morrows and the foreclosure action of Deutsche Bank, the parties attempted to reach a settlement agreement that would resolve the claims between Hackworth and Appellants Dora and John Morrow, as well as the pending foreclosure action against the Property by Deutsche Bank. Under the terms of the purported settlement agreement, Dora Morrow was to deed the Property to Hackworth, and Hackworth was to pay Deutsche Bank a purchase price for the Property totaling \$52,000.00 to fully and finally resolve the pending foreclosure action by satisfying the mortgage on the Property, with Deutsche Bank waiving its right to a deficiency judgment against the Morrows (*See R. p. 101, lines 4-21; see also R. p. 20*). In the jargon of foreclosure litigation this type of resolution between a foreclosing lender and borrower is known as a “short sale.”

The proposed settlement agreement was purportedly set forth in a contract for the sale of real estate executed by Dora Morrow and Hackworth on August 23, 2013 (*R. pp. 123-129*) and by letter from Deutsche Bank’s loan servicer, Bank of America, dated November 27, 2013 (*R. pp. 130-142*) (*See R. p. 101, lines 4-21*). The August 23, 2013 contract of sale signed by Dora Morrow and Hackworth was entered into prior to the trial court’s judgment in favor of Hackworth filed September 12, 2014 (*See R. pp. 10-18*). Said contract of sale was not signed by John Morrow, Deutsche Bank, or counsel for Deutsche Bank (*See R. p. 129*). The November 27, 2013 letter approving the short sale was not signed by Deutsche Bank or its representative, nor was it signed by counsel to Deutsche Bank (*See R. pp. 130-142*).

The August 23, 2013 contract of sale stated that closing must take place by September 30, 2013 (*See R. p. 126, section 3*). The November 27, 2013 letter stated that

closing must take place by January 14, 2014, or Deutsche Bank's approval was void (*See R. pp. 131-132, section 1*). The November 27, 2013 letter also stated that Deutsche Bank required additional documentation to be executed by Dora Morrow to effectuate the short sale, including an Assignment of Unearned Insurance Premium Refund (*See R. p. 136*). John Morrow notified Hackworth that Dora Morrow would require an additional payment in cash to sign additional documents waiving rights that were not set forth in the original agreement between the parties (*See R. p. 124; and R. p. 155*). When Hackworth refused the additional terms demanded by the Morrrows, the Morrrows refused to finalize the settlement agreement, and on March 24, 2014, Hackworth filed a motion to enforce settlement directed at Dora Morrow (*See R. p. 123-125*). In his motion to enforce settlement, Hackworth alleged that the settlement agreement "completely complies with S.C. Rules Civil Procedure 43" (*See R. p. 124*).

Hackworth served his motion to enforce settlement on Dora Morrow on March 24, 2014 (*See R. p. 190*). A hearing was set for April 23, 2014, and a Notice of Hearing was served on Dora Morrow on March 26, 2014 (*See R. pp. 184-185, and R. p. 191*). It does not appear that either the motion or the notice of hearing were directed to or served upon John Morrow or Deutsche Bank.

A hearing on Hackworth's Motion to Enforce was held on April 23, 2014, and attended by Thomas Dudley, representing Hackworth, and by John Morrow, appearing *pro se* and on behalf of his wife, Dora Morrow. The hearing was not attended by counsel for Deutsche Bank. Following off-the-record discussions, the trial court acknowledged on the record its understanding of the terms of the purported settlement agreement, as set forth in the August 23, 2013, contract of sale, and the November 27, 2013, letter from

Bank of America, as well as Hackworth's contention that the documents were enforceable as a settlement agreement (*See R. p. 101, lines 9-25*). John Morrow was allowed to speak and requested a continuance on the basis that his counsel was out of town, but the request for continuance was denied (*See R. p. 102, line 13-p. 104, line 9*). Following the denial of the request for continuance, John Morrow declined to say anything further based on advice of counsel (*See R. p. 104 lines 10-11*). Thereafter, the trial court granted the motion to enforce settlement and directed counsel for Hackworth to prepare an order requiring Dora Morrow to comply with the settlement within ten (10) days under threat of contempt of court (*See R. p. 104, lines 12-16*).

The trial court's Order to Enforce Settlement was filed April 28, 2014, held that Hackworth filed his motion to enforce settlement pursuant to Rule 43, *SCRCP*, and further held that it "resolves the judgment entered against Morrow and ends the pending foreclosure on Ms. Morrow" and that Dora Morrow would be required to comply with the settlement agreement by signing all documents required to effectuate the short sale (*See R. p. 21*).

On April 30, 2014, a new attorney for John and Dora Morrow forwarded a letter to the Master-in-Equity advising that circumstances surrounding the mortgage loan made it impossible for the Morrows to comply with the purported settlement agreement. Specifically, counsel for the Morrows stated it was impossible for the Morrows to comply because the loan was no longer serviced by Bank of America and the new loan servicer would not approve the short sale, and also because it was not an arms-length transaction (*See R. pp. 192-193*).

Thereafter, on May 7, 2014, attorney J.J. Andrighetti of Kehl Culbertson Andrighetti & Kornfeld, LLC, filed a Motion for Relief from Order to Enforce Settlement on behalf of John Morrow and Dora S. Morrow. At that time, Mr. Andrighetti was aware an Order to Enforce Settlement had been filed on April 28, but he was not in receipt of a signed copy. Out of an abundance of caution, Mr. Andrighetti was forced to file the motion before receipt of the Order to comply with the ten (10) day time limit prescribed by Rule 59, *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure*. The Morrows' Motion for Relief from Order asked the court to alter or amend its Order requiring compliance with the settlement agreement pursuant to Rule 59, or to vacate the agreement entirely pursuant to Rule 60 (*See R. pp. 146-147*).

On or about May 8, 2014, while Appellants' Motion for Relief from Order was pending, Hackworth filed a Motion to Allow Access requesting that the trial court allow Hackworth access to the Property, so it "can be inspected and an appraisal can be conducted in order for closing to occur on the subject property" (*See R. p. 151*). Presumably, as late as May, 2014, Hackworth's readiness to close the settlement agreement for which he sought enforcement was still subject to the results of the inspection and appraisal.

While Appellants' Motion for Relief from Order and Respondent's Motion for Access were pending, Deutsche Bank retained new counsel (*See R. pp. 188-189*). On May 29, 2014, attorney Daniel Orvin of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP, sent an email to the Master-in-Equity advising the trial court of Deutsche Bank's position that the purported settlement agreement "was not entered into by [Deutsche Bank] and cannot be enforced against him." Mr. Orvin argued the November 27, 2014, letter from Bank of

America was not enforceable by Hackworth because Hackworth lacked privity of contract with Deutsche Bank and because Deutsche Bank's approval of the short sale expired on January 14, 2014.

On or about August 14, 2014, while the Morrows' Motion for Relief from Order and Hackworth's Motion for Access were still pending, Hackworth filed a Motion Seeking Contempt Against Dora Morrow and Motion to Enforce Settlement as to Deutsche Bank, together with an Affidavit of Edman Hackworth in Support of Motion Seeking Contempt and Motion to Enforce (*See R. pp. 153-158 and R. pp. 181-183*). Hackworth's affidavit expressly states that he "no longer had access to the property [he] was purchasing and was unable to schedule an inspection and an appraisal, which, along with D. Morrow's refusal to sign the additional paperwork from Bank of America, prevented [him] from closing on the property by January 14, 2014, which was the deadline set forth in the Bank of America approval letter." (*See R. pp. 182-183*) (*See also R. p. 157*).

In response to the motions, the trial court issued a Rule to Show Cause to Dora Morrow to appear before the Master-in-Equity on September 19, 2014, to execute any and all necessary documents to finalize the settlement between Hackworth and Morrow (*See R. pp. 26-27*). Appellant Dora Morrow's attorney, Mr. Andrighetti, filed a Return to Rule to Show Cause arguing that the April, 24, 2014, Order to Enforce Settlement was not yet ripe for enforcement because the trial court had not ruled on Morrows' Motion for Relief from Order filed on May 7, 2014 (*See R. pp. 168-170*).

On September 19, 2014, a hearing was held on Appellants' Motion for Relief from Order and Hackworth's Motion Seeking Contempt Against Dora Morrow and

Motion to Enforce Settlement Against Deutsche Bank. Appearing at the hearing were Thomas Dudley, counsel for Hackworth; J.J. Andrighetti, counsel for the Morrows; and Matthew Tillman, counsel for Deutsche Bank. At the hearing, counsel for the Appellants argued to the trial court that there simply was no settlement agreement for the court to enforce, and there had never been a meeting of the minds as a result of the timing issues (*See R. p. 112, line 19-p. 113, line 1; p. 113, lines 12-13*). Counsel for the Appellants further argued that the documents comprising the purported settlement agreement were before the trial court in April 2014 when it made its Order Granting Enforcement of Settlement Against Dora Morrow, so the court could determine whether the August 23, 2013, contract of sale expired by its own terms in September of 2013, well before Bank of America purportedly accepted the settlement agreement on behalf of Deutsche Bank in November of 2013 (*See R. p. 112, lines 10-18*). Counsel for Deutsche Bank argued that an order enforcing the purported settlement agreement as to Deutsche Bank was not appropriate, because the bank was not a party to any settlement agreement, that it did not sign any short sale agreement, and that the short sale approval letter expired by its own terms in January of 2014 (*See R. p. 114, lines 1-11*).

At the hearing, the trial court denied Dora Morrow's Motion for Relief from Order and granted the motion by Hackworth to enforce the purported settlement agreement against Dora Morrow and Deutsche Bank (*See R. p. 117, line 20-p. 118, line 2*). After the hearing, the trial court issued an Order on Motion Seeking Contempt for Non-Compliance filed October 6, 2014, which formalized the trial court's verbal order (*See R. pp. 28-32*).

Subsequently, Deutsche Bank filed its Motion to Reconsider the trial court's October 6, 2014, Order, which asked the trial court to reconsider whether the purported settlement agreement complied with Rule 43(k), *SCRCP*, and therefore was not binding on Deutsche Bank, and whether the agreement expired on its own terms (*See R. pp. 171-174*). On or about November 12, 2014, the trial court issued an Order denying Deutsche Bank's Motion to Reconsider the trial court's holding that the settlement agreement is enforceable (*See R. p. 35*).

Appellants Morrow respectfully appeal the trial court's Order(s) dated April 28, 2014, and October 6, 2014, enforcing settlement and/or denying Appellant's Motion for Relief of same.

ARGUMENTS

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“At issue in this case is the interpretation of Rule 43(k), SCRPC. The interpretation of a rule or statute is reviewed de novo.” Price v. Investors Title Ins. Co., 2011-UP-359 (S.C. Ct.App. filed June 30, 2011), *citing* Limehouse v. Hulsey, 397 C.C. 49, 68, 723, S.E.2d 211, 221 (Ct.App.2011), *reversed on other grounds*. See also Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (stating the interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which the appellate court is free to decide with no particular deference to the trial court).

To the extent this case involves the construction of a contract, it is an action at law, tried without a jury. “In an action at law, tried without a jury, [the Court of Appeals] is limited merely to the correction of errors of law and the circuit court’s factual findings will not be disturbed unless wholly unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” Patricia Grand Hotel, LLC v. MacGuire Enterprises, Inc., 372 S.C. 634, 643 S.E.2d 692 (Ct. App.2007).

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING HACKWORTH’S MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT BECAUSE THERE WAS NO WRITTEN AGREEMENT SIGNED BY ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL AS REQUIRED BY RULE 43(k), SCRPC.

The purported settlement agreement in question proposed to resolve the action as follows: Appellant Dora Morrow would settle the judgment against her and her husband John Morrow in favor of Edman Hackworth totaling \$88,301.75 (*See R. pp. 10-18*) by deeding the Property to Hackworth, and Hackworth would pay Deutsche Bank a purchase price for the Property totaling \$52,000.00 to fully and finally resolve the pending foreclosure action by satisfying the mortgage on the Property and waiving its right to a

deficiency judgment against the Morrows. (*See R. p. 101, lines 4-21; see also R. p. 20*). In the jargon of foreclosure litigation this type of resolution between a foreclosing lender and borrower is known as a “short sale.”

The proposed settlement agreement was purportedly set forth in a contract for the sale of real estate that was executed by Dora Morrow and Hackworth on August 23, 2013 (**R. pp. 126-129**), and by letter from Deutsche Bank’s loan servicer, Bank of America, dated November 27, 2013 (**R. pp. 130-142**) (*See R. p. 101, lines 4-21*). The August 23, 2013, contract of sale signed by Dora Morrow and Hackworth was entered into prior to the trial court’s judgment in favor of Hackworth filed September 12, 2014 (*See R. pp. 10-18*). Said contract of sale was not signed by John Morrow, Deutsche Bank, or counsel for Deutsche Bank (*See R. p. 129*). The November 27, 2013, letter was not signed by Deutsche Bank or its representative, nor was it signed by counsel to Deutsche Bank (**R. pp. 130-142**).

The November 27, 2013, letter from Bank of America stated that Deutsche Bank required additional documentation to be executed by Dora Morrow to effectuate the short sale, including an Assignment of Unearned Insurance Premium Refund (*See R. p. 136*). John Morrow notified Hackworth that Dora Morrow would require an additional payment in cash to sign additional documents waiving rights that were not set forth in the original agreement between the parties (*See R. p. 124; and R. p. 155*). When Hackworth refused these additional terms demanded by the Morrows, the Morrows refused to finalize the settlement agreement, and on March 24, 2014, Hackworth filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement directed at Dora Morrow (*See R. pp. 120-125*).

In his motion to enforce settlement, Hackworth alleged that the settlement agreement “completely complies with S.C. Rules Civil Procedure 43” (*See R. p. 124*). The trial court’s Order to Enforce Settlement filed April 28, 2014, held that Hackworth filed his motion to enforce settlement pursuant to Rule 43, *SCRCP*, that it “resolves the judgment entered against Morrow and ends the pending foreclosure on Ms. Morrow,” and that Dora Morrow was required to comply with the settlement agreement by signing all documents required to effectuate the short sale (*See R. p. 21*).

Appellants respectfully submit that the purported settlement agreement was not enforceable pursuant to Rule 43, *SCRCP*, which provides in pertinent part as follows:

(k) Agreements of Counsel. No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or unless made in open court and noted upon the record, *or reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel*. Settlement agreements shall be handled in accordance with Rule 41.1, *SCRCP* (emphasis supplied).

“Rule 43(k) is intended to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation.” Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Construction Group, Inc., 318 S.C. 492, 493-94, 458 S.E.2d533, 534 (1995). The Supreme Court has held that “Rule 43(k) plainly applies to all settlement agreements.” Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc., 367 S.C. 634, 638, 627 S.E.2d 724, 726 (2006). The Supreme Court has further held that “[t]he rule is plainly worded: ‘No agreement . . . shall be binding unless’ one of the three¹ requirements is met.” *Id.*

¹ Subsequent to Farnsworth, the rule was amended in 2009 to provide to allow the additional (fourth) alternative requirement that a settlement agreement may be reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. Appellants respectfully maintain that the terms of this new alternative requirement simply were not met.

Even if the contract of sale and letter from Bank of America may be read in conjunction to satisfy the requirement that the agreement be reduced to writing, the two documents still did not meet all of the requirements of Rule 43(k). The August 23, 2013, contract of sale from Dora Morrow to Hackworth was signed only by Hackworth and Dora Morrow. It was not signed by John Morrow, who was also a party to the purported settlement, since a term of the settlement was that the judgment against him and Dora Morrow would be resolved. The contract of sale also was not signed by any representative of Deutsche Bank or its counsel. It also is not immediately apparent on its face whether the contract of sale was signed by counsel for Hackworth (*See R. p. 129*). The November 27, 2013, letter from Bank of America was not signed by any party, so it certainly was never signed by counsel for Deutsche Bank (*See R. pp. 130-142*). Even if the requirements of Rule 43(k) can be read so broadly as to allow a settlement agreement to be reduced to multiple writings, the writings in question did not meet the requirements of the Rule because they were never signed by all of the parties or all of their counsel. Therefore, there was no binding agreement and it was in error for the trial court to grant order(s) enforcing settlement.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ENFORCING THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WHERE DORA MORROW REVOKED HER ASSENT PRIOR TO ENTERING INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT SIGNED BY ALL PARTIES AND COUNSEL AS REQUIRED BY RULE 43(k), SCRCP.

“Rule 43(k) provides that ‘[n]o agreement . . . shall be binding unless’ one of the conditions listed above is met. In other words, an agreement is non-binding until a condition is satisfied. Until a party is bound, she is entitled to withdraw her assent.” Farnsworth, at 637, 725. Until and unless she entered into a binding agreement pursuant

to Rule 43, Dora Morrow was well within her rights to demand additional consideration from Hackworth, just as Hackworth was within his rights to refuse to pay additional consideration. It was therefore an error for the trial court to grant order(s) enforcing the prior agreement if it was revoked by Appellants prior to the parties to its having been reduced to writing signed by all parties and their counsel, as required by Rule 43(k).

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