THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity JUL 28 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2010-CP-23-1321
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002381

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for
First Franklin Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-FFI Pass-Through
Certificates, Series 2006-FFI Respondent,

v.

Dora S. Morrow, Ray Martin, and Lease and Rental Management
Corp. d/b/a Auto Use and Auto Loan, a Massachusetts
Corporation, Southern New Hampshire Bank and Trust Company,
a New Hampshire Bank, and Edman Hackworth Defendants.

Edman Hackworth 3rd Party Plaintiff,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPEAL WAS FILED UNTIMELY

As a preliminary matter that affects all assignments of error, Respondent contends this appeal was filed untimely.

The Order to Enforce Settlement on Respondent's motion was filed on April 24, 2014. Appellants only ever filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment, citing Rule 60, S.C.R.Civ.P. (**R. p. 146**). This motion was filed on May 7, 2014. The point made in Appellants' motion dealt with an allegation that a new loan servicing provider that indicated the settlement would violate Federal law. The motion contained **no** Affidavits or supporting documentation for the position stated therein. More importantly, the motion did not seek to alter or amend the Order to Enforce Settlement. In fact, it requested the Court to order Deutsche Bank to comply with the settlement agreement. (**R. p. 147**). In no

part of the motion does it cite or seek the Court to rule on a matter raised at the hearing but not ruled upon in the Order as would be done under a Rule 59 motion. Even though the Court's October 1, 2014 Order styles the motion erroneously as a motion to reconsider, the substance of the motion is clearly under Rule 60 as the motion states. A motion made under Rule 60 does not toll the running of the time for appeal. *Otten v. Otten*, 287 S.C. 166, 337 S.E.2d 207, 208 (1985).

Appellants' motion requested that the Court alter or amend the Order, but the substance of the motion was not to rule on or change a ruling that was raised at the hearing like a motion to reconsider. The motion did not seek reconsideration, but relief from the judgment based on apparently new evidence, although wholly unsubstantiated. Looking at the substance of the motion, it is clear that Appellants were seeking relief pursuant to S.C. Rules Civ. P. Rule 60, not a Rule 59. **(R. pp. 146-147)**.

In *Rowe v. Advance America, et al.*, 2006 WL 7285680, UP-047, the Court of Appeals addressed a similar issue. In the *Rowe* case, the motion was captioned as a motion to reconsider but was actually stated as being made pursuant to Rule 60 and the substance of the motion is consistent with a Rule 60 Motion. In the present matter, the Appellants' motion says it is being made under Rule 60. **(R. p. 146)**. In *Rowe*, the relief sought was to set aside, not reconsider. In the present matter, the prayer for relief says it is to "alter or amend", but what is sought is to have "Deutsche Bank ... comply with the settlement agreement or vacate the settlement agreement", not to reconsider or actually alter or amend the ruling. **(R. p. 147)**.

Substantively, Appellants' motion is for relief from judgment pursuant to Rule 60, not Rule 59. As the Court in *Rowe* stated,

“[i]t is well-recognized legal concept in South Carolina that motions should be treated based on substance and effect as opposed to how they are styled by the moving party.” *Rowe* citing *Mickle v. Blackmon*, 755 S.C. 136, 140; 177 S.E.2d 548, 549 (1970).

The Court in *Rowe* also noted that,

“[t]he court must examine the relief sought to understand the true nature of the pleadings.” *Rowe* citing *Standard Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n. v. Mungo*, 306 S.C. 22, 26; 410 S.E.2d 18, 20 (Ct. App. 1991).

Appellants’ motion in style and substance was made pursuant to SCRPC, Rule 60. Rule 60 motions do not operate to stay the time to file a notice of appeal. Appellants’ Notice of Appeal was dated November 5, 2014, which was more than thirty (30) days since the filing of the Court’s April 23, 2014 Order that Appellants’ seek to appeal. Therefore, Appellants’ appeal is untimely and should be dismissed.

II. ISSUE OF PRESERVATION

Appellants also failed to preserve all their arguments for appeal.

The questions presented for appellate review must first have been fairly and properly raised in the lower court and passed upon by the court. *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12; 5 S.E.2d 187 (1939). A party may not use a post-trial motion to raise an issue that could have been raised at trial. *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct. App. 1995); see *Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 512 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1999).

At the hearing on Respondent’s motion to enforce settlement, Appellant Dora Morrow did not attend. (**R. p. 104, lines 3-4; R. pp. 19-20**). Appellant John Morrow

never raised any substantive issues, except a request for a continuance, which was denied.²
(R. p. 102, lines 15-16; R. p. 104, line 2; R. p. 20).

Further, Appellants' motion raised an issue not raised at the hearing and new issues cannot be raised for the first time in a Motion to Reconsider. *Anderson Memorial Hospital v. Hansen*, 313 S.C. 497, 443 S.E.2d 329 (Ct. App. 1994). (R. p. 150). The issue raised by Appellants in their motion was something that allegedly occurred after the hearing to enforce settlement and was never argued at the hearing. (R. p. 150).

As the current issues raised on appeal were never raised at the hearing or ruled upon by the lower court, they were not preserved for appeal and should be dismissed. (R. pp. 101-105).

APPELLANTS' ISSUES ON APPEAL

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AS THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF A WRITTEN AGREEMENT OF ALL PARTIES GIVING ASSENT TO THE AGREEMENT.

As stated earlier, this issue was not timely appealed and never raised by Appellants at the hearing and therefore it is not appealable. See *Hubbard, supra*; *Patterson, supra*; and *Commercial Credit Loans, supra*.

Further, Appellants lack standing to raise this claim of error. It is undisputed and not contradicted by any evidence that Appellant Dora Morrow, the sole owner of the subject real estate, signed the settlement agreement. (R. pp. 126-129). Although Appellants assert in their appeal the lack of Bank of America's signature on the short sale documents generated by the Bank of America, Appellants lack standing to assert such a

² The denial of the request for a continuance has not been appealed.

claim. Only Bank of America could have raised that issue and it did not appeal the Court's Order.

It is undisputed that Appellant Dora Morrow also signed documents for a short sale that were sent to her and Respondent by Bank of America (**R. pp. 159-164**), which were consistent with the settlement agreement. It is undisputed and not raised as an issue on appeal that Bank of America approved this agreement.

Appellants can point to no evidence presented at any hearing that Appellant Dora Morrow did not sign the Contract for Sale of Real Estate (**R. p. 129**) or the Bank of America short sale documents (**R. pp. 159-164**). It is undisputed and uncontradicted that Appellant Dora Morrow signed the Bank of America short sale purchase contract and third party authorization forms, both of which are Bank of America pre-printed forms. (**R. pp. 159-162**). These documents were also signed by Respondent (**R. p. 129; R. pp. 161-162**) and approved in writing by Bank of America. (**R. pp. 130-132; R. pp. 140-141; R. pp. 159-164**). Further, in their Motion for Relief, Appellants requested the Court to order the bank to "comply with the settlement agreement." (**R. p. 147**), which is a clear admission of the substance of the settlement agreement and Appellants' assent. Appellants submitted no evidence to contradict Respondent's allegation that Appellant John Morrow told Respondent that his wife would not sign the additional Bank of America documents to consummate the settlement unless Respondent paid him \$1,000.00. (**R. p. 155; R. p. 182**). Appellants do not dispute nor argue against the existence of the Settlement Agreement or its terms.

"Rule 43(k) is intended to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation." *Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air*

Conditioning, Inc., 367 S.C. 634, 627 S.E.2d 724 (2006). The purpose of Rule 43(k) is to insure that there are no questions as to what the settlement involved. Since there is not a dispute as to this, the intent of Rule 43(k) has clearly been met.

Although the Bank of America short sale documents do not have a space for Bank of America to sign, the documents are Bank of America's pre-printed forms which were delivered to Appellant Dora Morrow and to Respondent by Bank of America. (**R. pp. 130-132; R. pp. 140-141; R. pp. 159-164**). Notably, Bank of America subsequently provided its approval of the short sale, in writing (**R. pp. 130-132**), to all parties once Bank of America received the signed short sale documents back from the parties.

Bank of America has not appealed the lower court's order to comply with and give effect to the short sale that ends the pending foreclosure sale and will cancel Respondent's Judgment.

Additionally, the documents constituting the settlement agreement (**R. pp. 126-129; R. pp. 130-132; R. pp. 159-164**) were entered in the record when Respondent filed his Motion to Enforce Settlement (**R. pp. 126-142**) on March 24, 2014 and his Motion Seeking Contempt Against Dora Morrow filed on August 19, 2014 (**R. pp. 159-164**).

Neither Appellants nor Bank of America have ever contested the existence or terms of the settlement agreement. The best evidence of this is that the bank has not appealed any Orders of the lower court.

As stated above, this issue is not timely made or appealable and further, Appellants lack standing for the issue they raise, and therefore Appellants' appeal should be dismissed. Most importantly, the intent of Rule 43(k) was satisfied.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ENFORCED THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT; DORA MORROW DID NOT REVOKE HER ASSENT PRIOR TO ENTERING INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT.

As previously stated, this issue was not timely appealed and never raised by Appellants at the hearing and is therefore not appealable. See *Hubbard, supra*; *Patterson, supra*; and *Commercial Credit Loans, supra*.

Moreover, Appellants can point to no evidence to support this position. In addition to there being no such testimony, there are no affidavits, verified pleadings, letters or emails that would lend credence to Appellants' claim that Appellant Dora Morrow gave notice that she revoked her agreement to the settlement.

The only evidence presented to the Court are the signed contract for sale, signed by Appellant Dora Morrow on August 23, 2013 (**R. pp. 126-129**) and the short sale pre-printed documents from the Bank of America, signed by Appellant Dora Morrow on September 30, 2013 (**R. pp. 159-162**), which contradict this argument only now being raised by Appellants.

Bank of America sent written notice of its approval of the short sale on November 27, 2013. (**R. p. 130**). At that point, revoking acceptance by Appellant Dora Morrow was not possible as a binding agreement had been reached. As can be seen in the Affidavit of Respondent, Appellant John Morrow claimed that Appellant Dora Morrow would not sign the additional documents unless he received \$1,000.00 from Respondent. (**R. p. 182**). This conduct was not revocation but extortion; further, it was too late.

The record is devoid of any evidence of Appellant Dora Morrow giving notice that she was revoking the settlement agreement. Moreover, when Bank of America agreed to the short sale (**R. p. 130**), it was too late for Appellant Dora Morrow to revoke.

Appellants argue with no support from the record that the deal had changed. In fact, nothing had changed.

On April 7, 2014, the Court filed a Second Supplemental Order of Judge Simmons, dated March 25, 2014, showing the deficiency was waived. (**R. pp. 23-24**). This shows that Bank of America was on board with the settlement and agreed to waive deficiency.

Further, there was nothing raised before the Court at either the April 23, 2014 hearing or the September 19, 2014 hearing that suggests Appellant Dora Morrow was revoking her assent to the settlement agreement. (**R. pp. 101-105; R. pp. 109-118**).

As there is nothing in the record to support this allegation of error, and therefore this issue was not preserved for appeal, Appellants' appeal should be dismissed.

V. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED HACKWORTH'S MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT, AS THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT DID NOT EXPIRE.

As previously stated, this issue was not timely appealed and never raised by Appellants at the hearing and therefore not appealable. See *Hubbard, supra*; *Patterson, supra*; and *Commercial Credit Loans, supra*.

Appellants argue that the settlement agreement expired by its own terms. First, the reason the closing did not take place is solely because of the acts, or inaction, of Appellants. The Court determined this and Appellant provided no evidence to the contrary. The only evidence is that Appellants, without any justification and based solely on economic extortion, refused to sign the additional documents sent by Bank of America to close on the short sale unless Respondent paid them more money, despite there being absolutely no obligation or duty of any kind for Respondent to do so. (**R. pp. 181-183**).

This fact was asserted by Respondent in his Affidavit and was not refuted nor contested by Appellants either by affidavit or oral argument. (R. p. 182).

A party cannot withhold a key for the other party's performance and then complain about non-performance. *Mozingo & Wallace Architects, LLP v. Grand*, 379 S.C. 478, 666 S.E.2d 267 (Ct. App. 2008).

It is uncontested that Appellants held the key for Respondent to perform and refused to perform causing the time period to be missed. Appellants cannot use their wrongful conduct as a defense. Further, this is more of a claim for Deutsche Bank to make, but Deutsche Bank has not appealed.